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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

 

TERESE MOHN, ) 

on behalf of herself and all others ) 

similarly situated, ) Case No.: 

607 North Avenue )  

Girard, OH 44420 ) JUDGE 

   )   

THOMAS MOHN ) 

on behalf of himself and all others ) 

similarly situated, ) 

607 North Avenue ) 

Girard, OH 44420 ) 

  ) 

Plaintiffs, ) 

   )  CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR 

v.   ) DECLARATORY RELIEF, INJUNCTIVE 

   )  RELIEF, MONEY DAMAGES, 

GEOFFREY GOLL, ESQ. ) ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS 

2140 Monroe Avenue, #49 ) 

Salem, OH 44460 ) JURY DEMAND ENDORSED HEREIN 

   ) 

DDY, INC.  ) 

c/o Geoffrey S Goll, Statutory Agent ) 

200 E. Pershing ) 

Salem, OH 44460 ) 

   ) 

 Defendants. ) 

 

 Plaintiffs Terese Mohn and Thomas Mohn, by and through counsel, hereby submit their 

Complaint to this Court against Defendants Geoffrey Goll (“Goll”), and DDY, Inc. (“DDY”) 

(collectively “Defendants”), and aver and allege as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. At all times relevant, Plaintiffs Terese Mohn and Thomas Mohn reside in Girard, Ohio. 

2. Upon information and belief, Defendant Goll resides in Salem, Ohio. 
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3. At all times relevant, Defendant DDY was and is a corporation, registered under the laws 

of the State of Ohio with principal place of business in Salem, Ohio.  

4. At all times relevant, and upon information and belief, Defendant Goll is an attorney 

licensed to practice law in Ohio, and is also an officer, director, owner, member, manager, and/or 

agent, or was otherwise in control of DDY. 

5. Defendant Goll is engaged in the business of debt collecting on behalf of DDY and a 

hospital located in Salem, Ohio. 

6. At all times relevant herein, Defendant Geoffrey Goll was acting within the scope of his 

agency for DDY. 

7. Jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

8. This Court has jurisdiction under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA"), 15 

U.S.C. § 1692k(d), and pursuant to supplemental jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. § 1367.  Because the 

parties are all located within the Northern District of Ohio, this Court has personal 

jurisdiction over them, and venue is also proper. 

I. FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 

A. THE NEW 2014 DEBT FROM SALEM COMMUNITY HOSPITAL 

9. Defendant DDY is a debt collection company, which refers to itself as a “collection agency.” 

10. Defendant Goll is a debt collector, as well, through his work in DDY, and also as an attorney 

for DDY and Salem Community Hospital. 

11. Defendants attempted to collect consumer debts related to medical care of Plaintiffs and 

Plaintiffs’ family from the Plaintiffs. 
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12. On or around March 26, 2014, DDY’s Office Manager Dorothy Faloba, sent an initial 

demand letter regarding a purported consumer debt to Plaintiff Terese Mohn.  A true and 

accurate copy of this letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

13. This March 26, 2014 letter was the first correspondence and communication with Terese 

Mohn by DDY concerning a debt of $56.50 with Salem Community Hospital. 

14. The March 2014 letter stated that Terese Mohn would be subject to litigation, lawsuit, court 

costs, interest at a rate greater than permitted by law, inconvenience, loss of time, and other 

harm unless she made “payment arrangements with [DDY and Goll] within the next 30 

days.”  These threats were made despite the fact that this was the first communication with 

Terese Mohn concerning this debt. 

15. The March 2014 letter was the first instance of DDY’s interaction/correspondence with 

Terese Mohn concerning this specific debt. 

B. THE SEPARATE 2006 DEBT 

16. In 2006, Terese and Thomas Mohn were sued by Salem Community Hospital’s Attorney 

Goll, on behalf of DDY, for a debt related to medical care they or their family member’s 

received prior to that time.  This lawsuit was filed in the Columbiana County Municipal 

Court, Case Number 2006CVF107. 

17. After judgment was entered against both Thomas and Terese Mohn in favor of Salem 

Community Hospital, and on or around May 31, 2006, Defendants caused a judgment lien to 

be filed in Trumbull County, the county in which the Plaintiffs reside, for $951 at 6% 

interest, based on the underlying judgment in 2006CVF107. 
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18. On June 4, 2014, Defendants filed a motion on behalf of Salem Community Hospital for a 

debtor’s examination hearing with the Columbiana County Municipal Court in case number 

2006CVF107. 

19. As a result of this motion, which was not a motion for contempt according to the Columbiana 

County Municipal Court docket, an order was issued to Plaintiffs that they must appear for a 

debtor’s examination on September 19, 2014. 

20. On September 19, 2014, Plaintiff Terese Mohn did in fact appear at the specified location, 

time, and date, for the scheduled debtor’s exam hearing held at Columbiana County 

Municipal Court, and awaited her hearing. 

21. No judge was present at the hearing, and upon information and belief no type-written, court 

reported, or audio/video recorded record was taken of the actual proceedings on September 

19, 2014. 

22. Terese Mohn awaited her debtor’s examination before Judge Frost, and while waiting 

observed both Dorothy Faloba and Attorney Goll performing separate debtor’s examinations. 

23. Upon information and belief, Dorothy Faloba is not an attorney licensed to practice law in 

Ohio, and she was, on September 19, 2014, performing debtor’s examination proceeding on 

her own without the supervision or presence of an Attorney in her room. 

24. Thomas Mohn did come and appear and wait for the debtor’s examination hearing, but 

substantial time passed with him never being called. 

25. When Terese Mohn’s debtor’s examination began, it was in front of Attorney Goll and one of 

his employees from DDY, named Elizabeth.  Attorney Goll began the proceeding by saying 

“I am not even going to discuss this with you.  I am issuing a bench warrant for your arrest.  

Prepare for thirty days in the county jail.”  

Case: 4:15-cv-00476-BYP  Doc #: 1  Filed:  03/11/15  4 of 18.  PageID #: 4



5 

 

26. Attorney Goll stated to Terese Mohn that her bills were so old and she owed money on 

multiple cases he was the attorney on, despite Terese Mohn’s reminding him she was present 

only for the 2006CVF107 case. 

27. Terese Mohn asked if she was supposed to be in front of Judge Frost, not just Attorney Goll, 

and Attorney Goll responded “If you want a Judge, then you really will be speaking to him 

from behind bars.” 

28. These statements terrified Terese Mohn, and made her believe she was going to be arrested at 

that meeting.  She was threatened with jail time on multiple occasions during that 

proceeding. 

29. Terese Mohn asked Attorney Goll “what can I do to stay out of jail,” to which Attorney Goll 

responded “make a payment plan and stick with it.” 

30. During the waiting, Thomas Mohn had returned to work in order to make money to be able to 

pay towards the debt being collected by DDY. 

31. Attorney Goll informed Terese Mohn that if she would pay the 2006 case in full by October 

5, 2014, he would not need to issue a bench warrant for Thomas Mohn. 

32. In the days following the hearing, Terese Mohn called DDY, and spoke with Elizabeth, who 

was present at Terese’s debtor’s examination on September 19, 2014. 

33. Terese Mohn made a recording of this conversation. 

34. Elizabeth verified the amount Terese Mohn was to pay to satisfy the 2006CVF107 case, 

verified that she was at the September 19, 2014 debtor’s examination of Terese Mohn with 

Attorney Goll, and also confirmed that Attorney Goll had indeed threatened Terese Mohn 

with imprisonment at the September 19, 2014 examination, however, Elizabeth claimed it 
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was for Terese Mohn’s failure to appear, despite the fact that Terese Mohn did in fact appear 

at examination and was threatened at her appearance. 

35. As a result of the payment made by Terese Mohn, the case 2006CVF107 was satisfied. 

36. Despite this satisfaction, Defendants allowed and to this date still allow the judgment lien 

filed by them in Trumbull County Court of Common Pleas, Case Number 2006 JL 173179, 

to remain pending, unsatisfied, and open. 

37. Upon information and belief, other debtors with whom Attorney Goll, Elizabeth, and 

Dorothy Faloba met with on September 19, 2014 were threatened by the Defendants with jail 

time and imprisonment upon their appearance at their debtor’s examination. 

38. Upon information and belief, Defendants were acting as debt collectors attempting to collect 

medical debts from all of the debtors that appeared before them on September 19, 2014. 

39. Upon information and belief, this threatening of jail time and imprisonment was done for the 

purpose of coercing and causing debtors to enter into payment plans on consumer debts, 

make payment arrangements, or make payments of the underlying debts, which were all 

related to medical bills for themselves or their family members. 

40. Upon information and belief, Defendants engage in a pattern, practice, and habit of making 

such threats to consumer debtors on these debts which they are collecting. 

41. The threat of imprisonment and jail, even for a failure to appear, was legally baseless and 

frivolous—a debtor cannot be imprisoned or jailed for failure to appear at a proceeding when 

they in fact appeared at that proceeding. 

42. Upon information and belief, Defendants condition these threats of jailing and imprisonment 

on the debtors, including Terese Mohn’s willingness to pay the underlying debts which 

Defendants are collecting. 
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43. No evidence appears on the docket that at any time in 2014 or even 2013 that a hearing was 

set for contempt or failure to appear by Terese Mohn.  The docket clearly states that the 

September 14, 2014 hearing was for a debtor’s examination only. 

C. THE SEPARATE 2002 DEBT 

44. In 2002, Terese Mohn was sued by Defendants, in Columbiana County Municipal Court, on 

behalf of Salem Community Hospital related to debt allegedly arising from medical treatment 

of herself and/or her family members at Salem Community Hospital. 

45. This lawsuit had the Case Number of 2002 CVF 792 N, and resulted in a judgment against 

Terese Mohn. 

46. Attorney Goll and DDY inquired into this debt and used it as reason for its threats of jail and 

imprisonment, as well, on September 19, 2014, despite the fact that no debtor’s examination 

nor proceedings with the Court were scheduled on that date for Case Number 2002 CVF 792 

N, and despite the fact that no proceedings were held in Case Number 2002 CVF 792 N since 

a certificate of judgment was issued in March 28, 2011. 

47. Attorney Goll and DDY offered to settle this claim if Terese Mohn made payment of a 

specified amount to him of $2,000 by early November 2014. 

48. Terese Mohn retained an attorney before this November 2014 deadline, who communicated 

to DDY and Attorney Goll about their prior misconduct involving the 2006 debt and the 

March 2014 letter. 

49. After that conversation, Attorney Goll and DDY refused to accept any payment directly from 

Terese Mohn, despite her contacting and communicating with them that she was ready, 

willing, and able to pay that settlement agreed amount for the 2002 debt. 
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50. Upon information and belief, this refusal to accept the funds was in retaliation for Terese 

Mohn hiring an attorney and complaining about the conduct of Defendants. 

D. OTHER RETALIATORY CONDUCT BY DEFENDANTS 

51. On October 30, 2014, Attorney Daniel J. Myers sent a letter and facsimile to Attorney Goll 

and DDY complaining of the conduct alleged in this Complaint. 

52. After Attorney Goll received the facsimile, he called Attorney Myers and threatened to turn 

him into the disciplinary counsel of Ohio for Attorney Myers’ allegations of Attorney Goll’s 

misconduct. 

53. Attorney Goll also threatened to report Terese Mohn to the Federal “criminal authorities” and 

local prosecutor because she had recorded her September phone conversation with Elizabeth 

at DDY, and threatened to sue Terese Mohn for slander and libel against Salem Community 

Hospital due to some alleged postings on a community blog about billing issues.  He also 

threatened that he would not accept the settlement of the underlying 2002 claim which he 

agreed to with Terese Mohn. 

54. Attorney Goll and DDY admitted in this phone conversation with Attorney Myers that they 

had been tracking the online postings of Terese Mohn for some time and had been collecting 

them, and threatened now to use them for a slander or libel lawsuit in response to the 

accusations against Defendants that they violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 

55. Upon information and belief, this is a pattern and practice and habitual course of conduct in 

which Defendants engage—threatening jail and imprisonment for unpaid debts, and unless a 

debtor makes payment on that underlying debt, and threatening other conduct when debtors 

raise issues with DDY and Goll. 
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56. Upon information and belief, this is a pattern and practice and habitual course of conduct in 

which Defendants engage—filing judgment liens, and after satisfaction of a debt, failing to 

cause such liens to be released or to be noted as satisfied in the County in which they are 

filed. 

57. Upon information and belief, the letter attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a widely used letter of 

Defendants which Defendants use in their debt collection activities with consumer debtors 

and related to consumer debt collection activities, and each letter threatens litigation, further 

collection, costs, and interest within the 30-days in which debtors have a right to dispute the 

debt, and during which time debt collectors are not permitted to collect or attempt to collect 

on the debts. 

COUNT I – VIOLATION OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

58.  Plaintiffs reincorporate and re-allege all the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten herein. 

59.  The Plaintiffs are “consumers” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692a(3) and 1692c(d) 

as they purchased medical services or were required to pay for medical services which were 

provided for family or personal use. 

60.  The Defendants are “debt collectors” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) as they are 

in the business of regularly collecting medical debts for Salem Community Hospital and 

others, and act on their own as third-party debt collectors or as agents of DDY, a collection 

company. 

61.  Defendant Goll, when he falsely and improperly threatened Plaintiffs Terese Mohn and 

Thomas Mohn with jail time, violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692d by engaging in conduct, the natural 

consequence of which is to harass, abuse, or oppress a person in connection with the 

collection of a debt. 
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62.  Defendant Goll, when he falsely and improperly threatened Plaintiffs Terese Mohn and 

Thomas Mohn with jail time, violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f by using unfair or unconscionable 

means to collect or attempt to collect debt. 

63.  Defendant Goll, when he falsely and improperly threatened Plaintiffs Terese Mohn and 

Thomas Mohn with jail time, violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e by representing to Plaintiff Terese 

Mohn that he could have her jailed when he could not legally take any such action; by falsely 

implying that Terese Mohn or Thomas Mohn committed a crime so as to disgrace them; and 

using false and deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect a debt. 

64.  Defendant DDY, in its March 2014 letter to Terese Mohn, violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) 

by demanding repayment within thirty days during which Terese Mohn had the right to 

dispute the debt, and thereby overshadowing or contradicting the Plaintiff’s right to dispute 

the debt or any portion thereof within thirty days. 

65. All actions engaged in by Attorney Goll were in his capacity as an attorney for, owner of, or 

agent of, DDY, and in an effort to collect a debt on behalf of DDY for Salem Community 

Hospital. 

66. Defendants’ actions in violation of the FDCPA were committed knowingly—Attorney Goll 

and DDY know what letters they use and employ, and know what they threatened Terese and 

Thomas Mohn with, and know what the proceedings on September 19, 2014 were for, as they 

requested them via motion for a debtor’s examination.  Therefore, they were not the 

consequence of any bona fide error. 

67. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Terese Mohn suffered emotional 

and mental anguish, stress, embarrassment, retained an attorney, and was required to bring 

this suit. 
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68. This dispute involves multiple violations related to three separate debts and at least two 

separate and alleged debtors, not just one debt, one debtor, or one violation. 

COUNT II – VIOLATIONS OF THE OHIO CONSUMER SALES PRACTICES ACT 

69.  Plaintiffs reincorporate and re-allege all the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten herein. 

70.  Defendants are “suppliers” within the meaning of the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act 

(“OCSPA”), O.R.C. §§ 1345.01(C) and 1345.03 because they are engaged in the business of 

effecting a consumer transaction, i.e. attempting to obtain payment for services provided by 

Salem Community Hospital to Terese Mohn, Thomas Mohn, and/or others for personal and 

family uses. 

71.  Plaintiffs are “consumers” within the meaning of O.R.C. § 1345.01(D) as they engaged in 

the transaction for medical services and were involved in the collection efforts of Defendants. 

72.  Defendants’ act of attempting to enforce the payment of debts owed by Plaintiffs was a 

consumer transaction within the meaning of O.R.C. § 1345.01(A), as the underlying 

transaction involved services from a hospital, not a physician, and were used for individual or 

family purposes. 

73. Defendant Goll committed an unfair or deceptive act or practice in violation of O.R.C. § 

1345.02 by falsely and improperly threatening Plaintiff Terese Mohn with jail time. 

74.  Defendant Goll committed an unconscionable act or practice in violation of O.R.C. § 

1345.03 by falsely and improperly threatening Plaintiff Terese Mohn with jail time, and 

thereby taking advantage of her lack of understanding, and knowingly making a misleading 

statement of opinion on which she was likely to rely to her detriment. 

75. Defendant Goll committed an unfair or deceptive act or practice in violation of O.R.C. § 

1345.02 by falsely and improperly threatening Plaintiff Thomas Mohn with jail time. 
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76.  Defendant Goll committed an unconscionable act or practice in violation of O.R.C. § 

1345.03 by falsely and improperly threatening Plaintiff Thomas Mohn with jail time, and 

thereby taking advantage of his lack of understanding, and knowingly making a misleading 

statement of opinion on which he was likely to rely to his detriment. 

77.  Defendant DDY, in its March 2014 letter to Terese Mohn, committed an unfair or deceptive 

act or practice in violation or O.R.C. 1345.02 by misrepresenting the Terese Mohn’s right to 

dispute the debt within 30 days. 

78. Defendant DDY, in its March 2014 letter to Terese Mohn, committed an unconscionable act 

or practice in violation of O.R.C. 1345.03 by knowingly taking advantage of the Plaintiff’s 

inability to protect her own interests because of the Plaintiff’s inability to understand the 

letter. 

79. The conduct engaged in by Defendants have been held to be unconscionable, deceptive, or 

unfair in decisions involving other suppliers in various courts of record in Ohio, and such 

cases are available and were available in the Attorney General’s Public Inspection File prior 

to the conduct engaged in by Defendants in this case. 

80. Defendants engaged in deceptive, unfair, and unconscionable acts under R.C. 1345.01 et seq. 

by engaging in and committing the numerous violations of the FDCPA, listed above in this 

Complaint. 

81. Specifically, Ohio courts have held, and such cases were available in the Public Inspection 

File (“PIF”) since 1979, that it is an unconscionable act or practice for a debt collector, 

engaged in the collection of or claiming of debts, to make a misstatement of fact that is 

designed to exaggerate the remedies or powers of the debt collector over the consumer, or the 

consequences to the consumer for non-payment of the claim, or to knowingly misstate the 
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law or the consumer’s obligations to the creditor.  This is held in multiple cases, including 

Bennett v. Tri-State Collection Service, PIF # 940002, listed in the PIF November 5, 1979. 

82. Since July 10, 2013, Ohio courts have held, and it was published in the PIF, that a debt 

collector violates the Consumer Sales Practices Act and engages in unfair, deceptive, and 

unconscionable acts and practices under it, when it violates the FDCPA, uses 

misrepresentations to collect or attempt to collect a debt, threatens to take action that cannot 

legally be taken or that is not intended to be taken, using unfair, deceptive, or unconscionable 

means to collect or attempt to collect a debt by collecting amounts or attempting to collect 

amounts not expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law, 

and threatening jail or imprisonment, attempting to collect unauthorized amounts, as outlined 

in multiple cases, including but not limited to the case of State ex rel. DeWine v. Royal Oak 

Financial Services, Inc., PIF# 10003097, listed in the PIF since July 10, 2013, before the 

conduct alleged in this case.  

83. Defendants knowingly misstated and misrepresented the law and the facts and the power and 

remedies available to them when they threatened jail and imprisonment for failure to appear 

when Terese Mohn did in fact appear at the proceeding she was required to appear at, and 

when no motion was pending or filed for a contempt hearing, order, or warrant; when they 

threatened jail and imprisonment as a condition for seeing Judge Frost; when they demanded 

payment within the thirty (30) days Terese Mohn had to dispute the debt; and when they did 

the same to other debtors in Ohio. 

84. Defendants engaged in other conduct which is an unfair, deceptive, and unconscionable act 

or practice under the OCSPA, and did so in all cases knowing of the conduct they engaged 

in. 
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85. Attorney Goll collects debts as a matter of course for DDY and Salem Community Hospital, 

his two largest clients, and such collection activities represent a substantial and/or principal, 

part of his law practice. 

86. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Terese Mohn and Thomas Mohn 

have suffered mental anguish, stress, embarrassment, and other harm, and are entitled to all 

reasonable damages, injunctive relief prohibiting such conduct, declaratory judgment that 

such conduct engaged in is unfair, deceptive, and/or unconscionable, attorney’s fees, and all 

other relief this Court deems equitable and just. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

87. All of the conduct, specifically the threatened imprisonment unless payment arrangements 

are made, and the use of a letter demanding or requiring payment from a debtor during the 

time the debtor has to dispute the debt, or overshadowing of the thirty (30) day right of a 

debtor to dispute a debt, were engaged in by Defendants pursuant to a policy or custom, and 

was their ordinary and habitual practice. 

88. This class action complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as monetary 

damages and attorney’s fees, is brought by Plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and all others 

similarly situated.  The class is defined as: 

a.  All present and future persons who have had civil judgments taken against them in 

litigation in Ohio, related to debts incurred for personal, family, or household 

purposes, where the opposing counsel is Defendant Goll, and have been, are, or will 

be threatened with imprisonment by Defendant Goll or a representative of DDY or 

Attorney Goll, for any reason, including but not limited to, failure to appear at a 
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debtor’s examination proceeding, when no motion for contempt or for a bench 

warrant had been filed by Defendant Goll or on behalf of Defendant Goll; as well as, 

b. All present and future persons who have received an initial debt collection 

communication, regarding a debt incurred for personal, family, or household 

purposes, from Defendants during the year prior to the filing of this action through 

the date of class certification, when such communication states that payment 

arrangements should or must be made within thirty days from receipt of the debt 

collection communication in order to avoid court costs and inconvenience, or during 

the time in which the person has to dispute the debt under the FDCPA; as well as, 

c. All present and future persons who have had a judgment lien filed against them by 

Attorney Goll and, after satisfaction of the underlying judgment, Attorney Goll has 

not removed or noted satisfaction of such judgment lien filed against the persons or 

their property. 

89. The joinder of all class members in the class (presumed and believed to be greater than forty 

(40)) is impracticable because the membership is too numerous and it changes from day to 

day, and because the class contains future members being communicated with by 

Defendants. 

90. Members of the class are entitled to similar common damages under both the FDCPA and 

OCSPA. 

91. Plaintiffs request certification of a hybrid class combining the elements of Rule 23(b)(3) for 

monetary damages and Rule 23(b)(2) for declaratory and injunctive relief. 

92. A class action is a superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy.  

Class-wide damages are essential to induce Defendants to comply with Federal and State 
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law.  The interest of class members in individually controlling the prosecution of separate 

claims against Defendants is small because the maximum statutory damages on an individual 

are $1000 for violation of the FDCPA.  Management of these class claims are likely to 

present significantly fewer difficulties than those presented in many class claims, e.g. for 

securities fraud. 

93. All members of the class have a right to damages or other relief which may be readily 

computed in each case or otherwise readily determined. 

94. Prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the class would create risk of 

varying individual adjudications, which would establish incompatible standards of conduct 

for Defendants who are expected to oppose the class. 

95. Members of the class have in common questions of law and/or questions of fact, including 

but not limited to, whether the challenged practices violate the FDCPA and OCSPA. 

96. The claims of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the class, as per the definitions 

of the class. 

97. The named Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the class and they 

will vigorously prosecute the case on behalf of the class.   

98. Many of the persons with whom Defendants dealt, or who were affected by their activities, 

may not be aware of their rights, or are not in a financial position to assert such rights readily.  

Because of relegation of their claims to individual actions would result in an unreasonable 

multiplicity of suits and a corresponding burden on this and other courts, a class action is far 

superior to all other methods for a fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. 
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99. Plaintiffs are represented by competent counsel with experience in federal consumer and 

class action cases and who thus have the experience and resources necessary to protect the 

interests of the class. 

100. Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Plaintiff 

class, thereby making appropriate declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as damages under 

the FDCPA and attorney’s fees under the FDCPA and the OCSPA appropriate, for the class 

as a whole. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that this Honorable Court grant them the following relief: 

a.  Enter an order that this action shall be maintained as a class action pursuant to Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)(2) and/or (b)(3).   

 

b. Enter preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining Defendants from applying in the 

future the customs or policies complained of herein against the Plaintiffs and the 

Plaintiffs’ class. 

 

c.  Enter preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining Defendants from applying in the 

future the customs or policies complained of herein against the future members of the 

Plaintiffs’ class. 

 

d. Judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, for declaratory judgment holding that 

Defendants’ conduct was unfair, deceptive, and/or unconscionable under Ohio R.C. § 

1345.01 et seq. 

 

e.  All damages permitted by the FDCPA to the Plaintiff and the Plaintiffs’ class, and 

attorneys’ fees under both Ohio R.C. § 1345.09, as well as all relief permitted by 15 

U.S.C. § 1692k. 

 

f. The costs of this action, and pre-judgment and post-judgment interest. 

 

g. Grant Plaintiffs and the class such other relief as is proper, just, and equitable. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

/s/ Daniel J. Myers___________                          /s/ Edward Icove_____________                                               

Daniel J. Myers, Esq. (0087909)    Edward A. Icove (0019646)    

Myers Law, LLC      Icove Legal Group, Ltd.  

1660 West Second Street, Suite 610    Terminal Tower, Suite 627 

Cleveland, OH 44113      50 Public Square  

P:  216-236-8202      Cleveland, OH 44113 

F:  216-674-1696      216-802-0000; Fax: 216-802-0002 

E:  DMyers@MyersLawLLC.com    ed@icovelegal.com 

Counsel for Plaintiffs      Trial Attorney for Plaintiffs 

         

         

 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs hereby request a jury of the maximum size permitted by law for all claims able 

to be tried to a jury in this Complaint. 

/s/ Daniel J. Myers___________                          /s/ Edward Icove_____________                                               

Daniel J. Myers, Esq. (0087909)    Edward A. Icove (0019646)  
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